RECEIVED

OCT 16 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2009-CP-10-3010
Appellate Court Case No. 2018-000566

Betty Fisher and Lisa Fisher,Appellants

v.

Bessie Huckabee, Kay Passailaigue Slade and Sandra Byrd,.....Respondents

In the Matter of the Estate of Alice Shaw-Baker.

**APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF;
JOINDER BY BETTY FISHER**

LISA FISHER, ESQUIRE (*Pro Se*)
P.O. Box 91112
Long Beach, CA 90809-1112
562-965-3267
lfisher6736@yahoo.com

(Appellant)

BETTY FISHER (*Pro Se*)
P.O. Box 91112
Long Beach, CA 90809-1112

Introduction

There is no doubt that Alice Shaw Baker's devotion to animals was known to all--maybe too well. While Appellants Lisa Fisher and Betty Fisher ("Appellants") have at all times acted in good faith in an effort to honor Alice Shaw Baker's wishes and ensure her assets were used for charitable purposes. Nevertheless, these legal proceedings have been met with disdain by the lower court and unwarranted sanctions.

As set forth herein, Appellants seek to overturn the judgment, sanctions, and terrible findings that attack both the character and professionalism of Appellants, Alice Shaw Baker's family.

These principles to restore estate assets for charitable purposes are not "unreasonable". They don't even require an extension of the law, because they are increasingly promoted through legal and scholarly writings. Third party standing is not prohibited in "probate" matters. Appellant Lisa Fisher wrote extensively about the premise in her *Return to Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment* on February 26, 2018 (R. 575) Therefore, when the lower court denied Summary Judgment, Appellants believed the issues of standing, dismissal, and accusations of wrong legal theories were behind them.

Commentary in the Restatement even finds that "a court may act on its own motion if it becomes aware of a possible breach of trust by a trustee." (See *Restatement (Second) of Trusts* sct. 200 cmt. H (1959) see also Unif. Trust Code sct. 706 (a).) In this case, there is ample evidence that Alice Shaw Baker had an expectation that her monies were to be used for charitable purposes for animals. Therefore, Appellants suggest that the court should have

recognized that Kay Passailague Slade’s standing in the animal rescue community created a duty to disclose to Alice Shaw Baker that she was not using the monies for the “rescue” that she worked at.¹

South Carolina relies on this modern view of law governing wills and trusts—as demonstrated by the statutory authority in S.C. Code § 62-2-601 which mandates reformation of a will “even if unambiguous, to conform the terms to the testator’s intention if it is proved by clear and convincing evidence that the testator’s intent and the terms of the will were affected by a mistake of fact or law, whether in expression or inducement.” (Emphasis added)

and

¹ This duty to disclose is not a new concept. Justice Benjamin Cardozo wrote, “A trustee is held to something stricter than the morals of the market place. Not honesty alone, but the punctilio of an honor the most sensitive.” (See *Reinhard v. Salmon*, 164 S.E. 545 (1928).)

Respondent Slade knew she was required to take care of Alice Shaw Baker’s dogs. The evidence supports a finding that Alice Shaw Baker was led to believe that based on her reputation in the community, and Alice Shaw Baker’s understanding, the monies were to go to the charity.

In New York case *Mandarin Trading Ltd v. Wiledenstein*, 16 N.Y. 3D 173, 178 (2011), the court held that a special relationship where the defendant owes fiduciary duties to the plaintiff required the defendant to disclose information.

There is also the “special facts” doctrine where one party has superior knowledge. In *PT Bank Central Asia v. ABN AMRO Bank N.V.* 301 A.D. 2d 373 (2003), the court held that a defendant had information not readily available to plaintiff. Therefore, under the Special Facts doctrine, there was a duty to disclose.

Everyone is just ignoring the extrinsic evidence as if it doesn’t exist. Even if the Court were to find that there were no “intentional statements” leading Alice Shaw Baker to believe that the monies were going to dog charities, there certainly would be a mistake that this Court can correct. Although fraud does not survive a person’s death in South Carolina, there is no doubt that “silence may constitute fraud” and it certainly can be viewed as extrinsic evidence to outline a testator’s true intent. (See *Dye v. Gainey*, 320 S.C. 65, 68 [Fraud is an essential element to constructive trusts, although it need not be actual fraud.])

South Carolina Code § 62-7-407 (2016) provides in pertinent part: "...a trust need not be evidenced by a trust instrument. The creation of an oral trust and its terms may be established only by clear and convincing evidence."²

One must question what impact these laws have if no one has standing to pursue them. Moreover, the danger that a conservator/trustee/fiduciary would not be able to restore the estate to the rightful owner when she has personal knowledge, as here, that the decedent's estate had either been revoked or a new will executed, leaves them open to liability.

The public policy reasons for allowing third party /special interest standing is essential to protecting the viability of a decedent's wishes. In the scholarly article by author Edward C. Halbach entitled *Standing to Enforce Trusts: Renewing and Expanding Professor Gaubatz's 1984 Discussion of Settlor Enforcement*, Univ. Of Miami Law Review, Vol. 62:713, the modern

[view is:]

"...A recognition of Special Interest Standing reflects society's interest not only in enhancing the enforcement of charitable trusts but also in honoring the reasonable expectations of settlors and the donor public." (See *Halbach*, See p. 718)

Appellants contend that their efforts to restore the monies to Alice Shaw Baker's charitable intent, either through a direct will contest or constructive trust/equitable

² Additionally, the due process concerns Appellants raised in this case concerning Peter Kouten's conflict has recently been through new legislation, which changes the procedure and duties of appointment of court appointed attorneys and guardian ad litem based on the Constitutional issues, inherent conflict between the roles of GAL and attorneys, and protections necessary to protect the elderly or vulnerable adults. (See S.C. Code § 62-5-403(b) and 62-5-101). Said changes to go into effect in 2019.

Appellants recognition of these issues through this litigation should not be viewed as problems, instead they demonstrated foresight in the protections of the elderly, such as Alice's case.

deviation/reformation action, should not have created such discord in the court.

Respondents made tactical decisions through this case to point the finger of accusation at Lisa Fisher. Yet, Lisa Fisher's only duty was to Alice Shaw Baker. The record shows some of Respondents and their counsels' deception in this case, but Appellants merely want justice for Alice Shaw Baker. Instead, a judgment over \$250,000.00 in sanctions and attorney fees were levied against Betty Fisher and Lisa Fisher. There is a judgment against their former attorney. They now must appear pro se, because of the conflict created by the judgments in case. **They have been punished for taking a stand for Alice Shaw Baker**, and the punishment was baseless.

Appellants ask this Honorable Court to look at what has happened, both with the lower court's conduct and the errors in law. Reversal is the only way to ensure that a grave miscarriage of justice is not allowed to continue. Most important, It is also the only way to ensure that the expectations and intentions of Alice Shaw Baker are honored.

B.
Statement of Issues on Appeal

- 1) WHETHER APPELLANTS HAVE STANDING TO PROSECUTE BOTH THE WILL CONTEST MATTER AND THE EQUITABLE CAUSES OF ACTIONS, THEREBY MANDATING REVERSAL OF THE COURTS ORDERS.
- 2) WHETHER APPELLANTS WERE DEPRIVED OF A FAIR TRIAL, BASED ON THE TRIAL COURT'S INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION, SECRET MEETING, EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS WITH RESPONDENTS' COUNSEL, TRIAL RULINGS (INCLUDING DEMAND FOR PRIVATE FINANCIAL RECORDS), AND BIAS MANDATE REVERSAL.
- 3) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURTS' JURY INSTRUCTIONS PREJUDICED APPELLANTS AND INTERFERED WITH ALICE SHAW BAKER'S CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY RIGHT TO REVOKE HER WILL MANDATING REVERSAL.

- 4) WHETHER SANCTIONS AGAINST APPELLANTS WERE WARRANTED WHEN THE LITIGATION WAS REASONABLY SUPPORTED BY THE FACTS AND LAW.
- 5) WHETHER JUDGE HUGHSTON'S RECUSAL AND DISQUALIFICATION IS MANDATED, IF THE COURT REVERSES THE ORDERS IN THIS CASE.

C.

Statement of the Case

Alice Shaw-Baker died on February 25, 2009. She was a wonderful woman who led a life devoted to animals and animal charities. She had been placed under a conservatorship and guardianship without notice to her family. Once they learned about the conservatorship, [Appellant] Lisa Fisher traveled to South Carolina. She assisted in fixing her house up, getting her to a beauty parlor, obtaining caregivers, and helping her great aunt Alice Shaw Baker from being institutionalized.

It was her family who stood with and by Alice.

Her court appointed attorney, Guardian ad litem, and visitor was attorney Peter Kouten.

Appellant Lisa Fisher was appointed as Alice Shaw Baker's guardian and conservator on November 19, 2008. (R. p. 10) She acted at all times to make sure that she was happy and healthy, including bringing in a hair dresser to fix her hair at her home, taking her shopping, and to the movies.

Alice Shaw Baker appreciated Lisa Fisher's help, because as she put it, "My best friend [Bessie Huckabee] betrayed me." There was a power of attorney and advanced healthcare directive naming Bessie Huckabee, who refused to assist Alice.

During the conservatorship trial, the court put in the order that Alice Shaw Baker could not change her will. This was done without notice to Alice or [Appellants] and is contrary to

South Carolina Law. Also, this was done, despite findings by the court that it was a limited conservatorship and that the court made findings that she had capacity to nominate Lisa Fisher.

Alice Shaw Baker was sent to the hospital on or about February 14, 2009 for changes to her medication. On February 25, 2009, Alice Shaw Baker died, the very day Lisa Fisher had flown out to pick her up (by medical ambulance/plane), as required by the doctor, to bring her to California to try and get her some additional medical help. It was devastating for Alice's family, Appellants herein.

Bessie Huckabee filed an informal petition for probate without notice to Betty Fisher. Appellants objected to and filed a formal will contest on April 27, 2009. [Respondents] filed their answer which did not seek attorney fees or any costs whatsoever. (R. p. 171)

On May 13, 2009, the Will contest/constructive trust litigation was formally removed from the probate court to the Circuit Court. The matter was bifurcated. Respondents' first Motion for Summary Judgment was denied on October 23, 2017. The trial judge denied the [Respondents'] motion for directed verdict.

Appellants asked for numerous jury instructions which the court did not provide to the jury. In fact, the trial court made strenuous statements to the jury which Appellants believe prejudiced their case. (R. p. 1210, ll. 3-16; pp. 1223-1224)³

During the Jury Trial, Judge Hughston also arranged for the Clerk to attend trial, and he

³ The court charged the jury as follows: "you will have [Judge Curry's order] and you can look at it and see when it was. You can see what she said in that order, and you can presume that she had good reason to say that. She had good reason to do what she did when she put it in writing and filed in the probate court. You can presume that, that she was not able to make a will at that time." (R. p. 1210, ll. 3-16)

Not only do Appellants contend that this is a wrong instruction, but it is a dictate to the jury that Alice Shaw Baker could not change/revoke her will.

inquired into the legal validity of the will, not Respondents' counsel. (R. pp. 991-992) All of these actions on behalf of Respondents were improper.

During the Bench Trial, various versions of Alice Shaw Baker's wills were presented. Other Evidence of Alice Shaw Baker's stated intentions, extrinsic evidence was filed.

After the bench trial, the Judge actively assisted Respondents, by assisting them with "collection" of monies, without notice to Appellant.

During the litigation, Appellants objected to and asserted the rights for Alice Shaw Baker that Attorney Peter Kouten had an actual conflict in representing Respondents. They alleged that he represented Respondents at the same time as Alice Shaw Baker, while she was alive. This is a viable and proper argument.

This was appealed, as were other erroneous orders, which delayed the trial of this case. Nevertheless, Appellants at all times believed that their legal claims were warranted under existing law or that there was a good faith and reasonable argument existing for the extension, modification, or reversal of, delay, existing law. ⁴

Moreover, the pleadings were not filed to harass or injure any party, to delay, or properly adjudicate the case. Appellants sought only to ensure that Alice Shaw Baker's testamentary

⁴ [REPEATED ARGUMENT, ABOVE. APOLOGIES TO THE COURT: ~~During the litigation, Appellants objected to and asserted the rights for Alice Shaw Baker that Attorney Peter Kouten had an actual conflict in representing Respondents. They alleged that he represented Defendants at the same time as Alice Shaw Baker, while she was alive. This is a viable and proper argument. This was appealed, as were other erroneous orders, which delayed the trial of this case. Nevertheless, Plaintiffs at all times believed that their legal claims were warranted under existing law or that there was a good faith and reasonable argument existing for the extension, modification, or reversal of, delay, existing law. Moreover, the pleadings were not filed to harass or injure any party, to delay, or properly adjudicate the case. Plaintiffs sought only to ensure that Alice Shaw Baker's testamentary wishes were followed.~~]

wishes were followed.

This appears to have angered and interfered with the court's consideration of the case and the duties of this Court. Appellant Betty Fisher relied on the advise of her counsel and is now being subjected to the same fate as her daughter, a judgment in excess of \$250,000.00 dollars, not demanded by [Respondents] in any pleading or motion,⁵ but contrived without notice and

⁵ Although Respondents filed post trial motions for attorney fees pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-36-10, said motion did not request fees, costs, or damages amounting to the sanctions imposed herein. Their motion filed on or about November 6, 2017 asked for \$111,842.42. The motion was not based on Rule 11, and the motion was not based on any affidavits regarding alleged wrongdoing. The allegations in the motion were different than raised by the court. See *PDHC v. Estate of Thompson*, 418 S.C. 557 (2016) which provides:

“The main purpose of Rule 11, however, is to deter future litigation abuse, not compensate the opposing party. By waiting until the case has been fully litigated and decided by the appellate courts on the merits, the Estate failed to challenge or prevent any litigation abuse from occurring in this case. Instead, the Estate made the tactical decision of waiting until the conclusion of the case to recover attorney's fees for all of the abuses that took place over a three-year period. In our view, the Estate's delay in bringing the motion for sanctions failed to serve the deterrence and efficiency purposes of Rule 11 and, therefore, was unreasonable.”

Appellants contend the *Thompson* case precluded the [lower] court from granting all of the attorney fees and costs, due to the delay of [Respondents].. Appellants objected to the billings and time in the fee estimation. The bills of W. Westbrook Wills III absolutely supports [Appellants] position that he was not substituted in 2013 and in fact, Peter Kouten's billing includes duplicative charges and appearances before the Supreme Court. Review of those billings show that Peter Kouten knew that Bessie Huckabee could not be bonded since July of 2009. [Appellant] Lisa Fisher's concerns over the protection of the trust were justified. Respondents allowed [Appellant] to pay for the protection of the property, knowing that statutory protections precluded her from acting as personal representative.

Appellant had no notice of the extent of damages and/or attorneys fees that the [lower] court would impose. The American rule still applies in litigation, when there isn't frivolous or bad faith arguments made by the litigants. Lisa Fisher is the only person accused of wrongdoing, where their billing records show that counsel and Respondent Huckabee could not be bonded, and as such could not pay for the maintenance of the property. Unjust enrichment for their benefit as the property increased in value is ignored for the sake of Respondents, when the

contrary to the other courts' jurisdiction.

Appellants Lisa Fisher and Betty Fisher believe that based on the pleadings, evidence, orders, and judgment in this case, the only result that can be made is reversal of the Judgment of the bifurcated trials.

Appellant Lisa Fisher protected these assets during the pendency of these proceedings, based on her duty under S.C. Code § 62-5-425 (d) and § 62-7-707. Due to her actions, the house has nearly doubled in value, the monies in the investment have doubled in value,⁶ and no other attorneys and/or Special Administrators have incurred additional fees which would have diminished the value of the property.

D. Standard of Review

“An appeal from the probate court to the circuit court regarding the validity of a will is a matter of law.” *Golini v. Bolton*, 326 S.C. 333, 338, 482 S.E. 2d 784, 784 (1997).

On appeal, this Court will examine the record to see if there is any evidence to reasonably support the factual findings of the probate court. “(*Dean v. Kigore*, 313 S. C. 25, 259 (1993)). An action to declare a constructive trust is in equity and a reviewing court may find facts

[lower] court's own feelings of remorse for the benefit of Respondents and his rage over Appellant Lisa Fisher's conduct in seeking redress, blinded the principles guiding temperance for justice. The court in *Wannaker v. Wannamaker*, 395 S.C. 592, 719 S. E.2d 261 (Ct. App.2011), held that a family court may not sua sponte modify an order not requested by the moving party. There is no reason for a difference in sua sponte orders in the [lower] Court.

⁶ The initial orders by Judge Hughston, some which have been vacated, created interference with the jurisdiction of the courts and raised havoc in this case, as the [lower] court made decisions about Appellants' fees and duties and made decisions about prior orders of Judge Curry regarding John Hughes Cooper's previously granted attorney fees. None of which was part of this case.

in accordance with its own view of the evidence.” (*Lollis v. Lollis*, 291 S.C. 525, 530 (1987).)

South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act S.C. Code Ann. § §15-36-10 (Supp. 2012) (the "FCPSA") is reviewed *de novo*.

The same standard of review applies to a trial judge’s findings under Rule 11, SCRPC. (See. *Site Prep, L.L.C. v. Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, L.L.C.*, 394 S.C. 97, 104, 713 S.E.2d 650, 653 (Ct. App. 2011) ["The determination of whether attorney's fees should be awarded under Rule 11 or under the [FCPSA] is treated as one in equity."])

E. Relevant Orders⁷

All of Judge Hughston’s orders are damaging to Appellant’s reputation, however the March 21, 2018 order is the most inimical and hostile toward Lisa Fisher. The court states with regard to Lisa Fisher’s testimony:

“The only reason that I do not call it perjury is that Alice Shaw Baker is now deceased and unavailable, and I am aware of the standard of proof in a criminal action.” (R. p. 68)

This Court’s March 21, 2018 order also states:

“Since I am confident there will be an immediate appeal of my decisions, consistent with the prior acts of the Plaintiffs and their attorneys, I decline to write about the tortuous history and undisputed facts. **I leave that to the Justices of the Supreme Court of South Carolina. They can find the facts in this equity case.**” (R. p. 63, emphasis added.)

Then at the conclusion of the order, the court states: “The real purpose undoubtedly was

⁷ Appellants are not listing all of the orders herein, however they do not waive any defects therein. They are merely setting forth some of the orders which demonstrate the prejudice in this case.

to have her die in California, ultimately avoid the jurisdiction of South Carolina control the Estate, defeat the Will and benefit her mother and herself.” Talk about making a bad impression! Fortunately, Judge Hughston’s conclusions were wrong, they were not based on any evidence, they were mere rank speculation! However, it is hard to believe that type of allegation will not impact Appellant’s reputation, due to the public nature of these filings.

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