RECEIVED

OCT 15 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2009-CP-10-3010
Appellate Case No. 2018-000566

Betty Fisher and Lisa Fisher..... Appellants,

v.

Bessie Huckabee, Kay Passailaigue Slade, and Sandra Byrd Respondents

In the Matter of the Estate of Alice Shaw-Baker.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

W. Westbrook Wills III
Law Office of
W. Westbrook Wills III
P.O. Box 822
Folly Beach, SC 29439
Tel. (843)-805-6300
wwills@wwillslaw.com

-and-

Jessica L. Crowley
The Crowley Law Firm
P.O. Box 30189
Charleston, SC 29417

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

forth in the statement of issues does not relate to the argument under the corresponding heading in the body of their brief. Appellants, in their “Argument” section, merely set out the issue in the heading, and then proceed with a totally different argument having to do with latent ambiguities in a will, and equitable deviation from the terms of a trust. The will contest on appeal did not involve ambiguity in the terms of the will, equitable deviation, reformation of the will, or a trust.

Likewise, Appellants’ Issue 2 contains at least 6 separate issues. As set out in their Statement of Issues, Appellants Issue 2 is “[w]hether Appellants were deprived of a fair trial based on the trial court’s independent investigation, secret meeting, ex-parte communications with Respondents’ counsel, trial rulings (including demand for private financial records), and bias mandate reversal.” This issue violates Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR in that it is not a brief and concise statement as to a single issue, but rather a broad general statement of several issues, before, during, and after the trials purporting to have deprived Appellants of a fair trial. Broad, general statements may be disregarded by the Court, or may be cause for dismissal of the appeal.

3) **Appellants’ “Statement of The Case”** violates Rule 208(b)(1)(C), SCACR in the same manner as the Introduction, as it is comprised almost entirely of disputed facts, editorialization, and improper argument with virtually no citation to material to be included in the Record. Here again, Appellants also attempt to raise issues they abandoned in the trial court [see, e.g., Appellants’ Int. Brief, p. 8 fn. 5, p. 9 (references to unjust enrichment of Respondents due to actions of Appellant Lisa Fisher)³], and include material which was irrelevant to the will contest, and irrelevant to this appeal. Most troubling, however, is that Appellants pervade their “Statement of the Case” with allegations of fact, which are not only disputed, but are patently false.

³ Respondents address Appellants’ abandonment at trial of each of their equitable causes of action other than for constructive trust in Section II of Respondents’ Argument.

By way of example, Appellants state as fact that “[d]uring the conservatorship trial, the court put in the order that Alice Shaw-Baker could not change her will. This was done without notice to Alice or plaintiffs and is contrary to South Carolina law.” [See Appellants’ Int. Brief, p. 5]. However, Alice, Appellants, and Appellants’ former attorney were all present at the hearing at which the probate court appointed Appellant Lisa Fisher as conservator and ordered that neither Alice, nor anyone on her behalf, may revise or revoke her will or execute a new will, unless specifically ordered by the Probate Court. (See R. p. 10-19). Similarly, Appellants state as fact that “[a]fter the bench trial, the Judge actively assisted Respondents by assisting them with “collection” of monies, without notice to Appellant.” [See Appellants’ Int. Brief, p. 7]. No such thing occurred, and Appellants cite to no materials or make reference to anything in any transcript which gives credence such misrepresentation.

Without addressing each and every instance in which Appellants’ Statement of the Case makes material misrepresentations of facts, Respondents object to it, in its entirety, as improper and not supported by the materials to be included in the Record.

3) **Appellants’ Standard of Review** violates Rule 208(b)(1)(D), SCACR by failing to set forth the standard of review in a separate section at the start of the argument on each of her multiple issues, and by failing to accurately and completely set forth the appropriate standard of appeal for review of sanctions under the South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Sanctions Act, and under Rule 11, SCRCP.⁴

⁴ Appellants improperly set forth the standard of review for sanctions under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10 (*et seq.*), South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act, and Rule 11, SCRCP simply as a *de novo* review. [See Appellants’ Int. Brief, p. 10]. However, the abuse of discretion standard plays a role in the appellate review of a sanctions award. *Ex parte Gregory*, 378 S.C. 430, 437, 663 S.E.2d 46, 50 (2008)(citing *Father v. South Carolina Dep’t of Soc. Servs.*, 353 S.C. 245, 579 S.E.2d 11 (2003)).

4) **Appellants' Section E "Relevant Orders"**. Appellants' include and an additional section not called for under Rule 208, SCACR. In this Section Respondent Lisa Fisher sets forth excerpts of the trial judge's findings in various orders of the trial court, without any context, in what appears to be her attempt to claim that those findings are damaging to her reputation, and demonstrate the court's contempt for her personally. [See Appellants' Int. Brief at 10, 11, fn. 8]. Damage to Lisa Fisher's reputation is not an issue on appeal, nor is it relevant. Appellants next argue that reversal of the orders is mandated because they claim Judge Hughston's order contained findings that "are not based on equity, and not on point with regard to the issues in the case," [see Appellants' Int. Brief, p. 11], and that they are vague in dereliction of Rule 52, SCACR [Id.]. Appellants fail to specify which order they claim contains vague findings, how the findings were in any way vague, and fail to provide legal analysis and citation to authority to support their position. They merely state it. Appellants provide no legal analysis in support of that position, and they have not included the argument in their Issues on Appeal. An issue that is raised in a brief by not supported by authority may be deemed abandoned and not considered on appeal. See Broom v. Jennifer J, 403 S.C. 96, 742 S.E.2d 382 (2013), see also, Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR ("Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues.").

5) **Appellants' Section F "Evidence that Alice Shaw-Baker Intended Animal Charities to Inherit her Probate Estate and Non-Probate Assets."** This section is also improper and violates Rule 208, SCACR in that, once again, it is extraneous to the "Argument" section, and makes improper and fallacious argument without any reference to South Carolina Authority. Appellants again attempt to raise the issue of ambiguity in the will, which is not an issue before the court, and they apply misconstrued law to misrepresented testimony of

Respondent Slade at trial, without citation to the relevant testimony in the transcript. [See e.g. Appellants Int. Brief, p. 14 (“Respondent Slade never told Alice that she had no intention of using Alice’s money to buy land, therefore her silence, when she had a duty to disclose to Alice her true intentions . . .”)].

6) Appellants’ Argument Section. Appellants’ Argument I (Appellants’ Int. Brief, pp. 15-17); Argument II, subsections A (pp. 18-19), B (pp. 19-23), C (2)(p. 24) and (3)(p. 25), D (pp. 25-27), E (pp. 27-29); Argument III, subsection A (pp. 30-32); Argument IV, subsection A (pp. 32-35) and B (pp. 35-36); Argument V (p. 36). In each of the foregoing argument designations, which represents nearly the totality of Appellants’ brief, Appellants either fail to present any argument related to the issue, present only broad conclusory statements and allegations without supporting authority or citation to the Record⁵, or argue issues which were not raised in the trial court below.⁶

The preceding sections are not only improper and wasteful, but they represent blatant violations of the Appellate Court Rules related to the presentation of the appeal and the content of the briefs. Respondents submit the Court should dismiss Appellants’ appeal due to the violations of the Rules and other defects with their brief discussed above. They, nevertheless, address Appellants’ arguments below.

⁵ South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review. See Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App.1993) (“An issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court.”).

⁶ Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court. E.g., Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”); Long v. Dunlap, 87 S.C. 8, 68 S.E. 801 (1910) (Supreme Court will not consider any point which was not presented and considered below unless it involves jurisdiction of the court); Gaffney v. Peeler, 21 S.C. 55 (1884) (question of law which was not presented to or passed upon by the trial court cannot be raised on appeal); Rule 210(c), SCACR (record on appeal shall not include matter which was not presented to lower court).

II. The Trial Court Correctly Dismissed Appellants' Bifurcated Causes of Action for Lack of Standing (Appellants' Issue I).

Appellants claim the judgment must be reversed because they have standing to prosecute both the will contest matter and their equitable causes of action for the benefit of animal charities. Appellants do not appear to assign any error on the part of the trial court, much less address any ruling the trial court made with regard to the issue of standing. The trial court did not rule that Appellants did not have standing to pursue the will contest matters, although it did ultimately dismiss their equitable causes of action on that basis. (See R. p. 110). Appellants do not indicate what ruling, if any, they challenge. They begin their standing argument by citing to the Probate Code which provides that any part of the estate of a decedent not effectively disposed of by his will passes to his heirs as prescribed . . .” This, they claim, endows Betty Fisher with standing to seek determination of the rights over the property (presumably the property belonging to the Estate of Alice Shaw-Baker). However, any standing which this statute could confer on Betty Fisher would necessarily be limited to estate property and assets, and only to the extent those were not effectively disposed of by Alice’s will. The statute would have no effect of conferring standing on Betty Fisher with regard to Alice’s non-probate assets.

However, the trial court did not find Appellants lacked standing to pursue the will contest matters, and Appellants fail to cite to any authority or make any argument in support of her standing to pursue her equitable causes of action (constructive trust on behalf of animal charities) against Alice’s non-probate assets.

Lisa Fisher claims she has standing through S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-425(d) and § 62-7-707(a) under which she states she has the duties of a trustee and the powers to protect the trust property. Other than merely stating it as a fact, Appellants provide no reasoned argument as to why that would be the case, particularly because there is no trust involved in this matter. Where

an appellant fails to provide argument or supporting authority for his assertion, he is deemed to have abandoned the issue. Matthews v. City of Greenwood, 305 S.C. 267, 407 S.E.2d 668 (Ct. App. 1991).

Appellants' discussion of ambiguity in the language of a will, of equitable deviation, and of reformation are non sequitur. Moreover, none of those issues support an argument for standing, none of those issues were pleaded in Appellants' Complaint (see R. pp. 141-70), nor were the issues raised or tried by consent before the lower court. Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.").

Finally, Judge Hughston ruled in favor of dismissing Appellants' equitable causes of action only after he held a bench trial on them, took evidence, and heard testimony.⁷ Judge Hughston also "considered the equitable principals that relate to a constructive trust and [found] by the overwhelming weight of the evidence that Plaintiffs have failed to prove the need for a constructive trust." [Id.]. Because the trial court has already heard and ruled on the merits of Appellants' equitable causes of action, their Argument I is moot. See Wallace v. City of York, 276 S.C. 693, 281 S.E.2d 487 (1981); Grant v. Osgood, 241 S.C. 104; 127 S.E.2d 202 (1962)(Issues which have become moot are not a proper subject of review).

III. Appellants Were Not Deprived of a Fair Trial (Appellants' Issue II).

A. Appellants argue generally that they were deprived of a fair trial, and then string together allegations, again without providing any legal authority for the propositions they wish to

⁷ Judge Hughston states in his June 29, 2018 order, "[p]rior to the non-jury trial, Defendants moved to dismiss the case following the Supreme Court's decision in the companion case involving these parties filed 2/28/18. I should have granted this. However, out of an abundance of caution, and my own preference for a full factual development . . . I reserved ruling and took testimony. I now grant Defendants' Motion to Dismiss these equitable claims for lack of standing." (R. p. 110).

prove, related to alleged occurrences before, during, and after the jury and bench trials. Appellants take the position that prior to the bench trial, Judge Hughston engaged in independent investigation of the facts of the case by looking at the files in this and the related conservatorship matters, and in requiring the parties to produce all discovery and that, as a result, they suffered harm. Appellants do not go so far as to indicate how they were harmed, nor do they cite to any authority to support their belief that a judge looking at the files and discovery in a case over which he is presiding is in any way improper. Neither do they provide any indication that any review by the trial court of the files prejudiced them in some way. Appellants blindly assert the proposition that pre-judging the issues deprives the proceeding of impartiality and denies due process [Appellants' Int. Brief, p. 19], but they fail to demonstrate how the trial judge, in this matter, pre-judged anything.

B. Next Appellants argue that they were deprived a fair trial because they claim that after the will contest and the equitable trials, the judge held a secret hearing with the Respondents, without notice to them which they claim somehow prejudiced them. Not only is it patently untrue that the trial judge held a "secret hearing" with Respondents, but Appellants again fail to indicate in any way how they suffered prejudice by any communications they allege were ex parte, particularly considering the trials had already taken place and the issues decided. Furthermore, as is apparent from the transcript, which Appellants set out in their brief, the communications at issue related to purely administrative matters (releasing Estate funds and property held in the court to the personal representative). Furthermore, this Court held in Burgess v. Stern, 311 S.C. 326, 428 S.E.2d 880, cert. denied, 510 U.S. 865, 114 S.Ct. 186, 126 S.Ed.2d 145 (1993), that ex parte communications do not constitute grounds to reverse court

orders unless the record reflects partiality or prejudice. Review of the Record demonstrates neither is the case in this matter.

C. Appellants next claim they were deprived of a fair trial because of errors during the will contest. First, Appellants argue the trial court erred in finding Lisa Fisher was disqualified under the Dead Man's statute to testify as to what Alice told her about her will. For this proposition, Appellants cite to McBeth v. Bishop, 278 S.C 443, 298 S.E.2d 441 (1982) which held that testimony incompetent under the Dead Man's Statute is admissible if no objection is made on that ground. (emphasis supplied). However, here, Lisa Fisher's testimony regarding anything Alice allegedly told her regarding her will and estate was disallowed because of objections interposed by counsel for Respondents. (See R. pp. 947-958).

Subsections 2 and 3 of Appellants' arguments, Exclusion of expected testimony of Dr. Waid, and Exclusion of evidence of Alice Shaw Baker's intent are merely headings without any argument, and are abandoned. See Matthews v. City of Greenwood, 305 S.C. 267, 407 S.E.2d 668 (Ct. App.1991), supra.

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